COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2012 AUG -8 AM 11:47

No. 43303-6-II

STATE OF WASHINGTON

87\_**(** 

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Marriage of:

RICHARD B. FERGUSON,

Respondent

and

PAMELA M. FERGUSON,

Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE A. AREND

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Roger Madison, WSBA 15338 Amy L. Perlman, WSBA 42929 Attorneys for Appellant MADISON LAW FIRM, PLLC 2102 Carriage Dr. S.W., Suite A-103 Olympia, WA 98502 T 360.539.4682 F 360.915.9236

###

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Ferguson's motion to vacate the decree of dissolution. CP 111.
- B. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Ferguson's motion for revision.
  CP 114-15.
- C. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Ferguson's motion for reconsideration. CP 117.
- D. The trial court erred in denying Ms. Ferguson's request for an award of attorney fees pursuant to RCW 26.09.140. CP 25, 30, 90-91.

#### II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- A. The trial court found that Ms. Ferguson had not filed her CR 60(b)(5) motion to vacate the property division in the decree of dissolution within a reasonable time and denied her motion to vacate on that basis. Did the trial court err in limiting the time within which a CR 60(b)(5) motion to vacate a void judgment may be brought? Yes.
- B. The trial court held that its decision whether to vacate a void decree of dissolution pursuant to CR 60(b)(5) was discretionary and declined to exercise that discretion and vacate the property division. Did the trial court err by not finding that it had a nondiscretionary duty to vacate the property award in the decree of dissolution if that decree is void? Yes.

C. The trial court never reached the question as to whether the property division in the decree of dissolution was void because it granted relief "different in kind from or exceed in amount that prayed for in the demand for judgment" in violation of CR 54(c) and the Due Process Clause. Should this Court find that the property division in the decree of dissolution is void and vacate it on that basis? Yes.

D. The trial court declined to consider the parties' financial circumstances and rule on Ms. Ferguson's motion for an award of attorney fees based on need and ability to pay pursuant to RCW 26.09.140. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in not awarding attorney fees to Ms. Ferguson? Yes.

E. Should this Court award attorney fees to Ms. Ferguson for prosecuting this appeal pursuant to RCW 26.09.140? Yes.

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Pamela Ferguson and Dr. Richard Ferguson were married on November 23, 1992 and have two children together: William, now 19, and Alex, now 17. CP 31. Dr. Ferguson owns and operates a dental practice, and Ms. Ferguson stayed home for much of the marriage to raise the children, occasionally helping out with the dental practice. CP 31-32.

Unable to continue with the long-standing pattern of abuse she suffered from Dr. Ferguson, in June 2004 Ms. Ferguson left the marital residence. CP 32. On August 10, 2004, Dr. Ferguson filed a petition for

dissolution of marriage (the "Petition"). CP 1-5. In his petition, Dr. Ferguson requested relief as follows:

#### 1.8 PROPERTY.

There is community or separate property owned by the parties. The court should make a fair and equitable division of all the property.

The division of the property should be determined by the court at a later date.

### 1.9 DEBTS AND LIABILITIES

The parties have debts and liabilities. The court should make a fair and equitable division of all debts and liabilities.

The division of debts and liabilities should be determined by the court at a later date. CP 2-3.

The Petition and related initial pleadings were properly served on Ms.

Ferguson on August 11, 2004. CP 61. Ms. Ferguson neither appeared nor responded, and an order of default was entered on September 1, 2004 and mailed to her on September 3, 2004. CP 61. On October 1, 2004, a final parenting plan was entered by default and, on October 5, 2004, a copy of that parenting plan was mailed to Ms. Ferguson. CP 61.

On December 14, 2004, Dr. Ferguson and his attorney appeared before Commissioner Pro Tem Donald Powell of the trial court for presentation and entry of findings of fact/conclusions of law and a decree

of dissolution. RP 12/14/04 at 1.<sup>1</sup> Ms. Ferguson received no notice of the hearing and received no notice of the property division other than as set forth in the Petition, quoted above. Dr. Ferguson testified as follows regarding the property and debts of the parties:

Q: And you have presented to the Court a distribution of property and debt. Is the distribution fair and equitable?

A: Yes, it is. RP 12/14/04 at 4.

No further evidence was offered to the trial court regarding the identification of the parties' assets or debts, the separate or community nature of the parties' assets or debts, the value of the parties' assets or debts, or the parties' income and financial circumstances. *Id.* 

Pro Tem Commissioner Powell then entered Dr. Ferguson's proposed Findings of Fact/Conclusions of Law (the "Findings") and Decree of Dissolution (the "Decree"). RP 12/14/04 at 4; CP 7-24. In its Findings, the trial court then set forth a detailed list of assets and debts and found that most of the parties' assets were Dr. Ferguson's separate property. CP 8-9, 12-15. The marital community was found to have no interest in Dr. Ferguson's dental practice. CP 12-15 (a copy of this portion of the Findings is attached hereto as **Appendix 1** for the Court's ease of reference).

Initially, it appeared that Dr. Ferguson did **not** appear at the final hearing, because the trial court's clerk's notes indicated that only Dr. Ferguson's counsel was present. CP 6.

The Decree awarded substantially all of the property to Dr.

Ferguson, including the waterfront Gig Harbor family residence, five other parcels of real estate, his dental practice, an Alfa Romeo sports car, a Ford pickup, all retirement accounts, and all other property in Dr.

Ferguson's possession (including all contents of the family home). CP 18, 22.3 Ms. Ferguson received a 1992 minivan, \$1,392.13 in cash, the bank accounts in her name and certain other minor assets. CP 18, 23.

From the time Ms. Ferguson was served with the Petition until 2011, Dr. Ferguson repeatedly assured Ms. Ferguson that he would not and had not pursued the dissolution. CP 32-33, 85-87. In December 2004, Ms. Ferguson moved back into the family residence and resumed her role as wife and mother. CP 32-33, 45-48, 87. The parties continued to hold themselves out as married until, in November 2011, Dr. Ferguson filed an unlawful detainer action against Ms. Ferguson. CP 50-59, 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Decree does not indicate that the parties' residence was a waterfront home in Gig Harbor. This fact is set forth in the record at CP 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The property listing and division in the Decree was identical to that found in the Findings, set forth for the Court's case of reference as **Appendix 1**.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Sometime in 2008, Ms. Ferguson discovered that the parties' marriage had in fact been dissolved in 2004.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ms. Ferguson provided multiple items of documentary evidence to the trial court supporting her contention that the parties had held themselves out as married after December 2004, including the fact that Dr. Ferguson continued to be covered on Ms. Ferguson's health insurance through her employer (CP 37, 42), utility bills continued to be issued to them jointly (CP 38), their church continued to send mail to them addresses to "Mr. and Mrs. Richard and Pam Ferguson (CP 39), and they held themselves as married to their friends (CP 40).

The day before she left Gig Harbor to bury her mother in Chicago, Ms.

Ferguson was served with Dr. Ferguson's unlawful detainer and was later removed from what she believed was the family home. 6 CP 50-59, 87.

Ms. Ferguson filed her motion to vacate the Decree on December 16, 2011. CP 25. The trial court commissioner initially expressed concern over the fact that the Findings and Decree did not include complete information as to the values of the assets being divided:

...attorneys get all ruffled up when I bring it up to them, but, you know, things I like to see in final decrees are, you know, actual estimated or at least fair market value or approximate estimated value of assets so that I know I can ascertain whether I have got fair and equitable distribution.

It's always troublesome when they say, "Oh, just divide this up." I don't know if I am giving 2 million to one party and 50 cents to another. RP 1/30/12 at 24.

The commissioner then summarily denied the CR 60(b)(5) motion to vacate without further explanation. RP 1/30/12 at 25.

Ms. Ferguson moved to revise the trial court commissioner's order, limiting the scope of her revision motion to the denial of her CR 60(b)(5) motion to vacate the property division in the Decree as a void judgment.

CP 90-91. The trial court denied the motion on three grounds. First, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> This appeal relates only to Ms. Ferguson's request that the trial court vacate the Decree as a void judgment pursuant to CR 60(b)(5). Ms. Ferguson originally sought vacation of the final parenting plan and Decree pursuant to CR 60(b)(4) based on her allegation of fraud and pursuant to CR 60(b)(11), but her motion was denied, in part due to the delay of over three years in seeking relief. RP 1/30/12 at 24-25. Ms. Ferguson is not seeking review of this portion of the trial court's order.

trial court held that CR 60(b)'s requirement that "[t]he motion shall be made within a reasonable time" was not met by Ms. Ferguson's three year delay in filing for relief:

It's always been my understanding, quite frankly, that CR 60(b) motions, other than 1, 2 or 3 had to be brought within a reasonable period of time; and, quite frankly, on its face, this motion was not brought in a reasonable time...So under the plain reading of the court rule, I would deny the motion on that basis, RP 2/24/12 at 16-17.

Second, the trial court found no requirement in RCW 26.09.020 that assets and debts be listed with specificity in the Petition, and found that the trial court was in no position at a hearing on a motion to vacate to make a determination as to whether the property division was fair and equitable. RP 2/24/12 at 18-19.

Finally, the trial court concluded from its reading of *Marriage of Leslie*<sup>7</sup> that vacating a void judgment was discretionary. RP 2/24/12 at 19-20. Because it could not determine whether the property division was fair and equitable, the trial court declined to exercise that discretion:

The other thing that I would say is that the Marriage of Leslie case, the provision that I just read, and Civil Rule 60 as it still exists says that, "The Court may relieve a party from a final judgment for the following reasons: The judgment is void." It doesn't say the Court must or shall relieve a party....So this Court chooses not to exercise its discretion and relieve the parties of the final judgment on

Marriage of Leslie, 112 Wn.2d 612, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989).

that basis without making a determination of whether or not the distribution is just and equitable. *Id*.

Ms. Ferguson moved for reconsideration pursuant to CR 59(a)(7) and CR 59(a)(9). CP 92-97. Ms. Ferguson argued that the trial court's characterization of the decision whether to vacate a void judgment pursuant to CR 60(b)(5) as discretionary was contrary to law. CP 94-95. She further renewed her argument that the Decree granted relief beyond that requested in the Petition. CP 95-97. The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration, clarifying that it had not reached the issue of whether the Decree was void because it could not determine whether the property division in the Decree was fair and equitable:

I never reached the issue that the judgment was void because you asked me to make that ruling on the basis that the petition and the final decree did not match.

The petition requested a fair and equitable distribution of the property. The property was distributed. I said, I believe, I was not in a position to determine if that was fair and equitable or not fair and equitable, absent the taking of testimony from all parties concerned. So I could not, as a matter of law, declare that the judgment was void. And I did not declare that the judgment was void. RP 3/16/12 at 12-13.

The trial court further reiterated its earlier ruling that a court's decision to vacate a void judgment pursuant to CR 60(b)(5) is discretionary under the language of CR 60:

So you don't need to get to the issue of, is it discretionary or is it not discretionary, but I do believe I went beyond that and said that even if it was void, the rule, itself, makes it discretionary because the rule says, under CR 60(b), "On motion and upon such terms as are just the Court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment order or proceeding for the following reasons: Reason No. 5, the judgment is void." The rule itself uses the word "may." I have always understood "may" to mean discretion. That was my ruling. That is my ruling. Your motion for reconsideration is denied. RP 3/16/12 at 13.

Ms. Ferguson timely filed her Notice of Appeal and asks this Court to vacate the property division in the Decree as void and to award her attorney fees pursuant to RCW 26.09.140. CP 107,

### IV. ARGUMENT

#### A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

- 1. Vacating the Property Division Set Forth in the Decree. The trial court has no discretion in considering requests made pursuant to CR 60(b)(5), and appellate review of such decisions is *de novo. Scott v.*Goldman, 82 Wn. App. 1, 6, 917 P.2d 131, rev. denied, 130 Wn.2d 1004 (1996).
- 2. Award of Attorney Fees. A trial court's consideration of a request for attorney fees made pursuant to RCW 26.09.140 is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Marriage of Greenlee*, 65 Wn.App. 703, 707, 829 P.2d 1120, rev. denied, 120 Wn.2d 1002 (1992).

### B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT VACATING THE PROPERTY DIVISION SET FORTH IN THE DECREE.

1. CR 60(b)'s Requirement That Motions to Vacate be Brought Within a "Reasonable Time" Was Satisfied.

The trial court ruled that Ms. Ferguson's CR 60(b)(5) motion to vacate was not made within a reasonable time and therefore should be denied. RP 2/24/12 at 16-17. Ms. Ferguson agrees with the trial court's reading of CR 60(b) in that the rule requires that all motions brought pursuant to that rule be filed within a reasonable time. However, in the case of void judgments, a "reasonable time" means any time: "[m]otions to vacate under CR 60(b)(5) may be brought at any time after entry of judgment." Marriage of Markowski, 50 Wn. App. 633, 635, 749 P.2d 754 (1988) (citations omitted); see also Marriage of Hardt, 39 Wn. App. 493, 496, 693 P.2d 1386 (1985)(five years elapsed between entry of void decree of dissolution and filing of motion); Brenner v. Port of Bellingham, 53 Wn. App. 182, 765 P.2d 1333 (1989)(16 years). This aspect of the Markowski court's decision has been cited with approval by the Washington Supreme Court in Marriage of Leslie, 112 Wn.2d 612, 619, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989). Accordingly, the trial court's denial of Ms. Ferguson's motion to vacate on the basis that it was untimely was in error and should be reversed.

# 2. The Trial Court Did Not Have Discretion to Decline to Vacate The Property Division Set Forth in The Decree if it Was Void.

The trial court held that, under *Marriage of Leslie* and CR 60(b), the decision whether to vacate a void judgment was discretionary. RP 2/24/12 at 19-20. At the hearing on Ms. Ferguson's motion for reconsideration, the trial court clarified its previous decision to indicate that CR 60(b), not *Leslie*, granted the trial court discretion as to whether to vacate a void judgment. RP 3/16/12 at 13. The trial court declined to exercise its discretion and vacate the Decree. *Id.* Ms. Ferguson respectfully submits that this portion of the trial court's holding was contrary to well-established case law and should be reversed.

In Scott v. Goldman, a default judgment was entered by the trial court against a defendant in 1989. Scott v. Goldman, 82 Wn. App. 1, 4, 917 P.2d 131, rev. denied, 130 Wn.2d 1004 (1996). In 1994, the defendant successfully moved to vacate the judgment as void. Id. This Court affirmed the trial court's vacation of the judgment, noting: "Courts have a mandatory duty to vacate void judgments." 82 Wn. App. at 6 (citing Brenner v. Port of Bellingham, 53 Wn. App. 182, 188, 765 P.2d 1333 (1989)(emphasis added)).

In *Brenner*, the trial court entered judgment by default against a defendant in 1969. 53 Wn. App. at 184. Sixteen years later, in 1985, the

defendant moved to vacate the judgment as void, and the trial court denied the motion. 53 Wn. App. at 185. Division I of this Court reversed the trial court, holding as follows:

A default judgment entered without valid service is void and may be vacated when the want of jurisdiction is established, regardless of the passage of time. (citation omitted); Marriage of Markowski, 50 Wn. App. 633, 635, 749 P.2d 754 (1988)(motions to vacate under CR 60(b)(5) are not barred by the "reasonable time" or the 1-year requirement of CR 60(b), but may be brought at any time after entry of the judgment). Courts have a nondiscretionary duty to vacate void judgments.

Markowski, 50 Wn. App. at 635. Consequently, the judgment of the lower court is reversed, and the cause is remanded with directions to the trial court to vacate the 1969 judgment of condemnation. Brenner, 53 Wn. App. at 188 (emphasis added).

Accordingly, the premise underlying the trial court's denial of Ms.

Ferguson's motion for revision and the underlying motion to vacate—
namely, that the decision to vacate a void judgment is discretionary—is
contrary to well-established case law. For this reason, the Court should
reverse this aspect of the trial court's decision.

## 3. The Property Division Set Forth in the Decree Was Void and Therefore Should be Vacated.

Contrary to Dr. Ferguson's arguments and the trial court's holding, the Court *must* vacate the property division in the Decree if it is void. Ms. Ferguson respectfully submits that the property division is indeed void.

Default judgments may not provide relief "different in kind from or exceed in amount that prayed for in the demand for judgment." CR 54(c). "To the extent a default judgment exceeds relief requested in the complaint, that portion of the judgment is void." *Marriage of Leslie*, 112 Wn.2d at 618 (citations omitted).

Dr. Ferguson has argued that the Decree granted no relief not requested in the Petition, and his position was succinctly stated by his counsel as follows:

First of all, I'd like to point out in the petition, the relief requested from the Court is to divide the properties and liabilities, and it's also to enter a decree of dissolution of marriage. And that's exactly what the decree did. RP 01/20/12 at 12

What the respondent is saying is that my client, the petitioner, was required to specifically set forth in his petition his proposed division of debts and division of property before he could go and get a default judgment—that's the petition here—and if he didn't, then any litigant can't go forward and get a default judgment unless they specifically set forth their proposed division of property and liabilities, and that's not the law.

The petition in this case doesn't request that the Court fairly and equitably divide property and liabilities. The petition states, as far as relief requested, enter a decree of dissolution and divide properties and liabilities. That's all the demand — the petition requested in this case, and that's exactly what the Court did. It entered a decree of dissolution and it divided properties and liabilities. RP 2/24/12 at 12-13.

Under Dr. Ferguson's approach, there is no division of assets in a default decree of dissolution that could be held as void under *Leslie*, as long as the petitioner used the standard "short form" language in the mandatory form for a petition for dissolution of marriage. Even the hypothetical \$2 million to one spouse, 50 cents to the other spouse asset distribution referred to by the trial court commissioner could not be vacated as void under Dr. Ferguson's proposed analytical framework.

In 2001, this Court established the standard to be applied by the trial court in determining whether the Decree granted relief different from that requested in the petition: "whether the defendant has 'sufficient notice to make an intelligent decision to appear or default." Marriage of Johnson, 107 Wn. App. 500, 504, 27 P.3d 654 (2001)(quoting Conner v. Universal Util., 105 Wn.2d 168, 172, 712 P.2d 849 (1986)).

Here, the only notice Ms. Ferguson ever received of the requested property and debt division was that it be fairly and equitably divided, as stated in the Petition. CP 2. Dr. Ferguson's Petition made no specific requests with respect to the division of the parties' assets and debts, nor did it characterize any assets as community or separate. CP 2-3. In sharp contrast, the Decree awarded nearly all of the property to Dr. Ferguson,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Dr. Ferguson's allegations and requests for relief set forth in paragraphs 1.8 and 1.9 are the "short form" option set forth in Washington State Court mandatory form WPF DR 01.0100.

including the parties' Gig Harbor waterfront residence, five other parcels of real property, Dr. Ferguson's dental practice, all bank and retirement accounts, an Alfa Romeo sports car and a pickup truck. CP 18, 22-24.

Ms. Ferguson was awarded only a 1992 Dodge Caravan, \$1,392.13 cash and certain other minor assets. CP 18, 23. Being notified that the property and debt from the marriage would be fairly and equitably divided did not equip Ms. Ferguson to intelligently decide whether to accept the extremely one-sided property division awarded by default to Dr. Ferguson.

The trial court made a point of noting that it was not in a position to determine whether the asset division in the Decree was fair and equitable in a motion hearing, as such a determination would require an evidentiary hearing. RP 2/24/12 at 19; RP 3/16/12 at 13. Ms. Ferguson agrees. Similarly, the Pro Tem Court Commissioner who entered the Decree by default was not in a position to make that same determination, as the only evidence in the record regarding the property division was Dr. Ferguson's three words of testimony quoted above. If the trial court could not determine whether the asset division was fair and equitable, how could Ms. Ferguson have had "sufficient notice to make an intelligent decision to appear or default" when she received no notice of the actual asset division proposed by Dr. Ferguson? The answer is that she could not, and

therefore Dr. Ferguson failed to satisfy the standard set forth by this Court in Marriage of Johnson.

Dr. Ferguson argued below that Ms. Ferguson bore the burden of proving that the asset division in the Decree was not fair and equitable. CP 63. Ms. Ferguson respectfully submits that it is the petitioning party who bears the burden of establishing that a proposed asset division awarded by default is fair and equitable when the respondent receives no notice of the actual proposed division. RCW 26.09.080 provides that "the court shall...make such disposition of the property and the liabilities of the parties, either community or separate, as shall appear just and equitable after considering all relevant factors." (emphasis added). Here, the Pro Tem Commissioner could not have considered all factors relevant to the property division because the only information in the record before the Court at that time was Dr. Ferguson's testimony that he believed the asset division was fair and equitable.

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