No. 43303-6-II

FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

_2012 SEP -5 PM 3: 16

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY Con

In re Marriage of:

RICHARD B. FERGUSON,

Respondent

and

PAMELA M. FERGUSON,

Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE A. AREND

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, Richard B. Ferguson

Roger C. Schweinler, WSBA #20169

Attorney for the Respondent McCARTHY & CAUSSEAUX 902 South 10th Street Tacoma, Washington 98405 T 253.272.2206 F 253.272.6439

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. GENERAL STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. A trial court's decision whether to grant a CR 60 Motion to Vacate a judgment is within the trial court's sound discretion and will not be revised absent a manifest abuse of that discretion. *Gustafson v. Gustafson*, 54 Wn.App. 66, 70, 772 P.2d 1031, 1034 (1989). A trial court manifestly abuses its discretion if its decision is based on untenable grounds or reasons. In re *Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1987). Abuse of discretion requires a finding that no reasonable person would have reached the same decision of the court. In re *Marriage of Burky*, 36 Wn.App 487, 489, 675 P.2d 619 (1984). Substantial policy favoring finality of judgments must be considered before exercising the discretion to vacate a final order. *Marriage Flannigan*, 42 Wn. App 214, 222, 223, 709 P.2d 1247, Rev. Denied (1985).

B. THE COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO VACATE THE DECREE OF DISSOLUTION AND ITS RULING SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

1. The Motion to Vacate was brought within a "reasonable time" Pursuant to CR 60(b).

CR 60(b)(5) Motions apply to "void" judgments only. If the judgment is not void, the Motion to Vacate must be brought within a reasonable time. CR 60(b). Even if it was conceded that if a judgment or order is found to be void, the Motion to Vacate it may be brought at any time pursuant to *Marriage* of Leslie, 112 Wn.2d 612 (1989), the trial court never reached this issue because it did not find or rule that the judgment (Decree) was void. RP 3-16-12 @ 13. The courts commentary following its holding that the judgment (Decree) was not void is simply dicta, but if it is categorized as a holding by this court, then it is respectfully submitted that it is harmless error.

2. The trial court had discretion to refuse to Vacate the Decree because it was not a "Void Judgment" under CR 60(b)(5).

The trial court did <u>not</u> declare that the Decree was a void judgment. RP 3-16-12 (a) 13. That was the crux of its ruling. Therefore, the court did not need to address the issue of whether it has discretion to vacate void judgments. The trial court's implication that CR60(b) provides it with discretion to vacate void judgments, if contrary to law is, therefore, is again harmless error.

3. The Judgment (Decree) is not Void, so CR 60(b)(5) does not apply.

A default judgment may not provide relief "different in kind from or exceed in the amount that prayed for in the demand for judgment." CR 54(c). "If the order entered by default exceeds the demand of the complaint, the amount in excess of the complaint is void." *Stablein v. Stabein*, 59 Wn.2d 465 (1962).

On August 10, 2004, Richard filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage with the court which provided as follows:

1.8 COMMUNITY OR SEPARATE PROPERTY There is community or separate property owned by the parties. The court should make a fair and equitable division of all property." "The division of the property should be determined by the court at a later date." 1.9 DEBTS AND LIABILITIES.

The parties have debts and liabilities. The court should make a fair and equitable division of all debts and liabilities. The division of debts and liabilities should be determined by the court at a later date.

These two provisions were a <u>basis</u> for the Petition. Richard was not required to specifically list his proposed division of assets and debts, and this has been confirmed by Pamela's counsel and the court. RP 2-24-12 @ 17-18. Again, the basis for the Petition is that the court should make a fair and equitable division of all property and debts, and determine the division at a later date. The Petition also provides as follows:

II. RELIEF REQUESTED

The Petitioner REQUESTS the court to enter a Decree of Dissolution and to grant the relief below.

Divide the property and liabilities.

The Decree dissolved the marriage and divided the property and liabilities of the parties. Accordingly, the relief granted mirrored the relief requested by entering a Decree and dividing the property and liabilities of the parties, and there was not error.

3. X W

Pamela, however, now argues that the Decree is void because it granted relief different from what was requested in the Petition under the test set forth in *Marriage of Johnson*, 107 Wn.App. 500, 27 P.3d 654 (2001). Basically, Pamela is arguing that she did not have notice of the contents of the Decree, and therefore, the Decree is void. Pamela's argument is misplaced and the facts of our case are much different than in *Marriage of Johnson*.

In *Marriage of Johnson*, the Petition for Dissolution alleged that the family home was worth \$280,000.00 and that each party shall receive half of its value. Id @ 502.

Mr. Johnson was served with the Petition and defaulted. Subsequently, the Decree awarded Ms. Johnson a judgment against Mr. Johnson in the sum of \$140,000.00 with interest at 12% per annum. Id @ 503. It also required Mr. Johnson to execute a Deed of Trust securing Ms. Johnson's interest of \$140,000.00 in the family home. Id @ 503. The court held that the Decree substantially varied from the Petition with respect to the house, provided inadequate notice to Mr. Johnson, violated Mr. Johnson's due process rights, and was therefore void with respect to the house. Id @ 504.

In Johnson, the Petition provided for a specific relief and gave Mr. Johnson sufficient notice that if he defaulted, each party would receive half the value of the house. However, the Decree went beyond that and exceeded the relief requested, especially with respect to the interest attached to Ms. Johnson's judgment.

The majority, if not all, of the other cases cited by Pamela relate to child support amounts ordered in the Decree which exceeded the <u>specific</u> amounts requested by the Petition. See <u>Marriage of Hardt</u>, 39 Wn.App 493 (1985) and <u>Stablein v. Stablein</u>, 59 Wn.2d. 465 (1962). In these cases, the court voided the amounts that exceeded the <u>specified</u> amounts in the Petition.

In all of these cases, the responding party had sufficient notice of the specific relief requested in the Petition to make an intelligent decision to appear and contest, default. However, the Decree or judgment entered by default exceeded that relief. This is not the case here.

It is uncontested by Pamela that, after having been personally served with the Summons and Petition for Dissolution, she completely failed to appear or respond to the legal action filed against her, CP 61. Clearly, she was aware that Richard was seeking to dissolve their marriage and have their assets and debts divided by the court, CP 181. Pamela is a smart and educated woman with a Master's Degree. CP 183. Yet, now she argues that she did not have "sufficient notice to make an intelligent decision to appear or default" because Richard never provided her with a specific proposal of a property and debt distribution. Again, the statute does not require a Petition in a dissolution action to specifically set forth a list of proposed property and debt division and Pamela agrees with this contention. RP 12/24/12 @ 17 & 18;7 RCW 26.09.020. The Summons and Petition notified Pamela that if she defaulted, the court would determine the distribution of property and debts at a later date. CP 1-5. It also requested the court to enter a Decree, which dissolved the marriage. CP 1-5. The Order of Default was mailed to Pamela on September 3, 2004, CP 181. The Final Parenting Plan which restricted her residential time with the children was mailed to Pamela on October 5, 2004. CP 181. Clearly, the receipt of all these pleadings would provide any reasonable person, and especially Pamela, with "sufficient notice to make an intelligent decision to

appear or default" in a legal action filed against her. The Decree did not vary from the Petition and the Summons and Petition provided adequate notice to Pamela that the court would divide the property and liabilities of the parties as requested in the Petition if she did not respond or appear. Accordingly, Pamela received adequate notice, her due process rights were not violated, and the Decree is not void.

Pamela argues further that the Decree did not divide the property fairly and equitably as the court is required to do and is, therefore, vold. On December 14, 2004 Richard appeared in court and presented formal proof of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and the Decree of Dissolution of Marriage. RP 12/14/02 @ 4. The pleadings were presented to the court for review and approval. RP 12/14/02 @ 3. The Decree distributed the parties' property and liabilities, as requested in the Petition for Dissolution. CP 24. After Richard was sworn and under oath, he testified that the distribution of property and allocation of debts as contained in the Decree was fair and equitable. RP 12/14/02 @4.

Pamela now asserts, over seven (7) years later, that the distribution of property and debts as set forth in the Decree was not fair or equitable, yet she has failed to provide any proof at all to support her claim. CP 63. Richard respectfully submits that the issue of whether the Decree divided property and debts fairly and equitably is not before the court when determining challenges in the context of an appeal from a CR 60 vacate motion. Pamela is, in effect, alleging an error in the underlying dissolution Decree/judgment

because the division was not fair or equitable. However, the alleged error appear to be outside the scope of proper challenges to the trial courts denial of Pamela's CR 60 Motion to Vacate, Regardless, because Pamela goes to great lengths to persuade this court that the final distribution of property and debts was "extremely one-sided," a response is necessary. Pamela argued below that Richard received the Gig Harbor "waterfront" home, five (5) parcels of real property, his dental practice, any and all retirement accounts in his name, and an Alfa Romeo automobile, all of which were "community property." CP 18, 22-24. In order to combat the appearance that the Decree was not fair or equitable. Richard filed documents with the court which demonstrated that he had inherited, or was gifted, the five (5) parcels of real property from his mother on August 5, 2003. CP 180-218. These parcels were listed as Richard's separate property in Exhibit "A" to the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree. CP 23-24. Richard also filed documentation with the court demonstrating that he purchased his dental practice, including all the assets, in 1988 and he purchased the building on December 18, 1989, all prior to his marriage on November 23, 1992. CP 180-218.

Further, the Gig Harbor "waterfront" home, the Decree lists its value at five hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.00) and Richard filed a declaration stating that the indebtedness thereon at the time the Decree was entered was approximately four hundred seventy thousand dollars (\$470,000.00), and that he also used approximately fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000.00) of his separate funds as a down payment. CP 64. Furthermore, Richard was allocated almost

all of the debt, which included approximately fifteen thousand five hundred dollars (\$15,500.00) to the IRS, as reflected in the Decree. CP 64. Pamela has never denied any of these facts.

Accordingly, the Petition noted that the parties have separate and community assets and liabilities. The Petition requested a fair and equitable distribution of the assets and liabilities. The Decree set forth the separate and community property of the parties and granted relief which mirrored the relief requested and, therefore, there was not error by the trial court.

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING PAMELA'S REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES, AND THE COURT SHOULD AWARD ATTORNEY'S FEES TO RICHARD FOR THIS APPEAL.

Interestingly, in all the hearings below, Pamela's counsel never argued the issue of attorney's fees. RP 1-30-12, 2-24-12, and 3-16-12. Pamela's pleadings requested attorney's fees, but her counsel never requested them during oral argument. RP 1-30-12, 2-24-12 and 3-16-12. That is probably why the court did not specifically address the issue of attorney's fees.

Richard's financial declaration clearly shows that he does not have the ability to pay Pamela's attorney's fees. CP 163-168. Richard's monthly expenses substantially exceed his monthly net income. CP 163-168. Among Richard's monthly expenses are his son's college tuition, room and board, and other educational costs in the sum of approximately "\$2,800" per month. CP 167. Richard's monthly expenses do not include the significant attorney's fees he has incurred since January 24, 2012. CP 168. The trial court did not error in denying Pamela's request for attorney's fees.

Richard should be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and costs for responding to this appeal. Richard has been forced to incur substantial attorney's fees based upon Pamela's bad faith conduct.

Pamela filed her Motion to Vacate the Decree on several grounds and alleged that she never knew that her marriage was dissolved in December, 2004. Richard was then forced to defend against her claims and provided proof that her allegations were false. CP 219-222. Pamela then abandoned two (2) of her causes of action. Richard submits that Pamela did not bring her legal action against him in good faith. Furthermore, Richard has prevailed at every hearing leading up to this appeal. Pamela's appeal does not have merit and Richard respectfully requests an award of attorney's fees.

V. CONCLUSION

The court should affirm the trial court because the Decree is not a void judgment or order pursuant to CR 60(b)(5), and should not be vacated. **RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED** THIS $\leq \int day$ of September, 2012.

, · Adl

ROGER C. SCHWEINLER, WSBA #20169 Attorney for Respondent

FILED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2012 SEP -5 PM 3: 17